
EL MALAGUEÑO MARIANO DE UNZAGA SAINT 
MAXENT (1790-1820): HOMBRE DE CONFIANZA  

DE JOSÉ I BONAPARTE EN SU EXILIO EN FRANCIA  
Y ESTADOS UNIDOS

The malaguenno Mariano de Unzaga: confidence man of Joseph I  
Bonaparte in his exile in France and in the United States of America

Frank J. Cazorla Granados

En septiembre del 2020 conmemoramos el CC ani-
versario del fallecimiento del oficial malagueño, 
edecán y asistente personal de José I Bonaparte, 
el doctor Mariano de Unzaga, hijo del teniente ge-
neral malagueño Luis de Unzaga y de la influyente 
neoorleanesa Isabel de Saint Maxent. Mariano per-
tenecía a una de las grandes familias de España, 
descendiente de gobernadores de Bilbao, Málaga 
y Luisiana. Desde su más tierna juventud, Mariano 
inicia sus pasos en el ambiente ilustrado de la cor-
te, donde es paje de su majestad, capellán cas-
trense, caballero cadete en la Escuela de Nobles y 
en el cuerpo de artillería, participa en varias bata-
llas y, finalmente, asciende hasta convertirse en el 
coronel de la caballería que protegía al rey y gran 
maestro masón José Bonaparte, del que llegaría a 
ser su más cercano amigo y confidente. Acompa-
ñará al monarca al exilio, primero a Francia, donde 
también asistirá a Napoleón en su último intento 
de huida, y luego viajará con José Bonaparte a Es-
tados Unidos, donde colaborará en la colonización 
de nuevas tierras de cultivo para los oficiales bona-
partinos en varios estados. Mariano tratará de regre-
sar a Europa cuando la oleada liberal de 1820, pero 
fallece en el océano Atlántico durante la travesía.
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We mark September of 2020 to commerate the 
200th anniversary of the death of the Malaga-born 
Mariano de Unzaga, aide-de-camp and personal 
assistant of Joseph Bonaparte, and son of the Lieu-
tenant General Louis de Unzaga and of the influen-
tial New Orleanian Elizabeth St. Maxent. Mariano 
belonged to one of the most important families in 
Spain, for being the successor of many generations 
of governors in Bilbao, Malaga and Louisiana. As a 
kid, he accessed the enlightened environment of 
the Court, where he began his steps as a Paje of His 
Majesty, and as Cadet Knight in the Artillery Corps, 
where he participated in several battles and finally 
got promoted to the position of Cavalry Colonel 
to protect the King and Grand Master Freemason 
Joseph I Bonaparte, who later became his closest 
friend and confidant, accompanying the Monarch 
into exile, after he went to France, where he also 
assisted Napoleon in his last attempt fleeing, and 
then journeyed with Bonaparte to the United States, 
where he collaborated to colonize new farmland for 
French officers in various states. Mariano tried to re-
turn to Europe amid the liberal movement of 1820 
but died in the Atlantic Ocean during his journey.
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T ras más de cinco años de ocupación de la 
Península por los franceses, en 1813 el du-
que de Wellington los vence en Vitoria y el 
que era rey de España, José I Bonaparte, 

marcha al exilio hasta Burdeos sin haber abdicado.
Como parte del séquito leal que sigue al rey en su 
destierro, va un español que se había convertido en 
su hombre de confianza y edecán durante los últi-
mos años de tan breve reinado en España: el alto 
oficial malagueño Mariano Luis de Unzaga Saint 
Maxent, que había colaborado estrechamente con la 
Administración del rey José y que ahora era conside-
rado un afrancesado (López, 2001, p. 81) en su país, 
lo que, peyorativamente, se entendía como traidor. 
Pero ¿quién era este fiel acompañante que asistirá a 
Bonaparte incluso cuando marche a Norteamérica?

1. Sus orígenes: de capellán castrense  
a comandante de caballería

Mariano Luis de Unzaga, como se le presenta algu-
nas veces en las fuentes contemporáneas (Bertin, 
1893; Biddle, 1931; Goldsmith, 1913; Hugo, 1833; 
Ingersoll, 1845; Stroud, 2005), es descrito como 
«perteneciente a una de las grandes familias de Es-
paña» con tradición de regidores vascos y de valero-
sos militares que se habían establecido en Málaga y 
como «hijo de un famoso mariscal español», refirién-
dose a su padre, Luis de Unzaga Amézaga (Cazorla 
et al., 2019). Este había sido gobernador de Luisiana, 
donde, bajo los auspicios de la corona española y a 
través de una red de espías, había logrado el sumi-
nistro a las colonias en Norteamérica para su inde-
pendencia.

También había desempeñado los cargos de pri-
mer capitán general de Venezuela y de Cuba, donde 

I n 1813, after more than five years of French oc-
cupation of the Peninsula, the Duke of Welling-
ton defeated the French in Vitoria, and Joseph I 
Bonaparte, the former king of Spain at the time, 

was exiled to Bordeaux without undergoing a pro-
cess of abdication.

Among the loyal entourage that followed the 
King to his exile, there was a Spaniard that had gai-
ned favor in the ways of trust and aide-de-camp from 
the king during his last years reigning Spain: The 
high officer Mariano Luis de Unzaga St. Maxent, who 
had collaborated tightly with King Joseph’s adminis-
tration and consequently was considered an afrance-
sado (López, 2001, p. 81) in his home country, which, 
pejoratively, was understood to be a traitor. Despite, 
who was indeed this loyal follower that assisted Bo-
naparte even after he had departed to America?

1. Origins: From martial chaplain  
to Cavalry commander

Doctor Mariano Louis de Unzaga, as he is sometimes 
referred to in some sources (Bertin, 1893; Biddle, 
1931; Goldsmith, 1913; Hugo, 1833; Ingersoll, 1845; 
Stroud, 2005), is described as “pertaining to one of 
the greatest families of Spain” having Basque alder-
men and courageous military as part of the family 
history, and also being the “son of a famous Spanish 
marshal”, referring to his father Louis de Unzaga & 
Amézaga (Cazorla et al., 2019), who had been go-
vernor of Louisiana, where under the auspices of the 
Spanish Monarchy, had sent supplies to the rebel 
colonists in North America in support of their inde-
pendence.

He had also performed the position as the first 
general captain of Venezuela and Cuba where he 

habría recibido al príncipe de Inglaterra, futuro Wi-
lliam IV, en el entreacto del fin de la guerra y de la fir-
ma de la Paz de París, en 1783. Hechos que lo sitúan 
como un precursor decisivo en los acontecimientos 
previos a la gestación de Estados Unidos.

En 1785, Luis de Unzaga regresó a su Málaga 
natal para ocupar su último destino como goberna-
dor político-militar de la ciudad, donde, entre otras 
actuaciones, retomará las obras de caminos a Gra-
nada (iniciados por su padre, Francisco de Unzaga), 
comenzará a construir la Aduana y la Alameda, en la 
que situará su propia residencia familiar.

had received the future prince of England, William IV, 
following the end of the end of the war and previous 
to the signing of the Peace of Paris in 1783. Facts that 
place him as a decisive precursor in the events prior 
to the US gestation.

In 1785, Louis de Unzaga returned to his native 
Málaga to occupy his last destination as political-mili-
tary governor of the city where, among other actions, 
he resumed the works of roads to Granada (initiated 
by his father Francisco de Unzaga), begun to build 
Customs and the Alameda and he located his local 
residence for his family.

Mariano de Unzaga. (Por: F. Cazorla). / Mariano Unzaga. (By F. Cazorla).

Genealogía de Mariano Unzaga. / Genealogy of Mariano Unzaga.

Detalle de la partida de bautismo de Mariano. (Expediente personal, 1802). / Detail of Mariano’s baptism certificate (Personal File, 1802).
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Así, bajo el nombre de Mariano Manuel Rafael 
Lino Martín Luis fue bautizado 1 el 24 de septiembre 
de 1790, al día de nacer, en la iglesia de Santiago en 
Málaga, el menor de los hijos varones, apadrinado 
por su tío, el presbítero Martín de Unzaga y Paniza.

Su madre, Isabel de Saint Maxent la Roche, una 
francesa de Luisiana primogénita de una influyente 
estirpe de comerciantes local, había podido mante-
ner entre sus hijos las costumbres, la lengua y la cul-
tura galas gracias al espíritu ilustrado de su marido.

En Málaga, Isabel será cofundadora de varias 
asociaciones femeninas destinadas a la filantropía 
(Caro, 2016, p. 8).

Con diez años, Mariano es nombrado capellán 
castrense auxiliar y en febrero de 1802 su madre, 
porque desde 1793 ya fue paje al quedarse huérfa-
no de padre, solicita su entrada (Expediente perso-
nal, 1802) al Seminario de Nobles en Madrid, don-
de coincidirá con su hermano Francisco de Unzaga, 
con Juan van Halen y con Torrijos, que más adelante 
destacarán por su perfil liberal y masónico; en 1803 
era caballero cadete en el Colegio de Artillería de 
Segovia.

El 3 de enero de 1807 asciende a subteniente 
del Real Cuerpo de Artillería de Segovia por ser el 
alumno con mejores notas en matemáticas. Le dan 
licencia para reunirse con su madre, que estaba visi-
tando la corte en julio de 1807, antes de la entrada 
de tropas en Portugal, y de nuevo en marzo de 1808.

Tras los sucesos de mayo de 1808, cuando los ca-
pitanes de artillería Daoíz y Velarde se rebelan y se 
suman al levantamiento contra las tropas francesas, 
fue nombrado teniente de artilleros 2 y viajó a Mur-
cia, sede de la fábrica de artillería, para luego par-
ticipar en la batalla de Almonacid (Sañudo, 2011,  
p. 159) 3.

En enero de 1810 ocupó el puesto de profesor en 
la Escuela de Artillería de Segovia, pero dos meses 
después acompañó a Bonaparte en su visita a Mála-
ga y desde entonces el joven Mariano se puso al ser-
vicio del nuevo rey, que lo era fruto de las abdicacio-
nes de los Borbones en Bayona. Junto a Van Halen, 
fue uno de los oficiales de la casa real que asistían a 
José I. Por real decreto del 15 de abril de 1812, el rey 
nombra al teniente Mariano de Unzaga capitán de 
caballería de línea (Boletín Oficial del Estado, 1812, 

1 A esta ceremonia acudió parte de la familia materna, incluida su 
abuela Isabel la Roche, que regresarían a América tras los días 
del terremoto que sufrió Málaga (Duplicados, 1787).
2 El bando anti-Bonaparte, afín a Fernando VII, dejó en sus cróni-
cas ulteriores el puesto de capitán general de artilleros «vacante» 
en el período bélico de 1809-1814, aunque lo ocupó Mariano 
de Unzaga.
3 El 11 de agosto de 1809 Mariano de Unzaga y Eugenio Montero 
lideran 887 hombres del Batallón de Sevilla, ambos a las órdenes 
del coronel Juan Blasco Negrillo, miembro de la logia masónica 
Libertad núm. 30.

Under the name of Mariano Manuel Raphael Lino 
Martín Louis he was baptized 1 on September 24th of 
1790 in Málaga, in St. James Parish. Mariano was the 
youngest of the males from the Unzaga-St. Maxent 
kids. His uncle, the priest Martín Unzaga, was his  
godfather during his baptism.

His mother, Elizabeth de Saint Maxent la Roche, 
was a creole of New Orleans, firstborn of an influen-
tial and wealthy local family, had been able to keep 
customs, language and gala culture among her chil-
dren thanks to her husband’s enlightened spirit.

In the previously mentioned city, his mother, Eli-
zabeth was cofounder of several female associa-
tions that were devoted to philanthropy works (Caro, 
2016, p. 8).

At the age of ten, Mariano was appointed martial 
chaplain and in February of 1802 his mother, since 
1793 he was already fatherless, requested his entran-
ce (Expediente personal, 1802) to the Noble Seminar 
in Madrid, where he coincided with his brother Fran-
cisco de Unzaga, and with John van Halen and with 
Torrijos. All of them stood out by their liberal and ma-
sonic profiles; he was knight as cadet in the College 
of Artillery of Segovia in 1803.

On January 3rd of 1807, he is promoted to sub- 
lieutenant of the Royal Artillery of Segovia for being 
the student the best marks in Maths. He got licenses 
to reunite with his mother, who was visiting the Court 
in July 1807, before the entry of troops into Portugal 
and again in March of 1808.

Following the events of 1808, in which Artillery 
captains Daoíz and Velarde rebel in support to the 
uprising against the French troops, he was appoin-
ted Artillery lieutenant 2 and went to the Artillery fac-
tory of Murcia to later participle in the Battle of Almo-
nacid (Sañudo, 2011, p. 159) 3.

He was called as a professor at the Artillery Colle-
ge of Segovia in January 1810; two months later he 
accompanied Bonaparte on his visit to Málaga; from 
then, the young Mariano put himself at the service of 
the new King by taking the appointment as one of his 
officers. Joseph I became king as a result of the Ab-
dications the Bourbons in Bayona. By Royal Decree 
on April 15th of 1812 the King appointed lieutenant 
Mariano de Unzaga to the charge of Calvary captain 

1 Part of the maternal family attended this ceremony, including 
her grandmother Elizabeth La Roche, who would return to Ame-
rica after the days of the earthquake that Málaga suffered (Dupli-
cados, 1787).
2 The antibonaparte side, similar to Fernando VII, left in his subse-
quent chronicles the position of artillery captain general “vacant” 
in the war period of 1809-1814, although it was occupied by Ma-
riano de Unzaga pro tempore.
3 Batlle of Almonacid, Aug. 11th of 1809, Mariano Unzaga and 
Eugenio Montero leads 887 men of the battalion of Seville, both 
under the Colonel John Blasco Negrillo, member of the Libertad 
Lodge # 30.

20 de abril), quien de este modo se convierte en el 
oficial de mayor autoridad que velaba directamente 
por el monarca.

En efecto, la buena relación entre el rey y Mariano 
de Unzaga era recíproca. En Recuerdos y memorias 
(Hugo, 1833, pp. 117-119) se relata cómo el propio 
José Bonaparte conoció pronto a este «joven lleno 
de dulzura y bondad» que sobresalía por tener una 
«mente cultivada y destacada valentía», al que José 
profesaba verdadero afecto y a quien trató, a pesar 
de su juventud e inferioridad de rango, de forma es-
pecial. Mariano, por su parte, muy agradecido, no 
dejó de colmar al rey con manifestaciones constan-
tes de devoción.

Miembros de la familia Unzaga-Saint Maxent, junto 
a aristócratas y mandos militares, habían participado 
de la idea de que con el nuevo rey, reformista e ilus-
trado, gran maestro masón 4 de España, Italia y Fran-
cia y gran águila de la Legión de Honor, se moderni-
zaría e ilustraría España de manera más acelerada. 
Efectivamente, José I intentó mejorar las condicio-
nes del país con sus reformas de corte liberal y para 
ello promulgó leyes de educación, abolió privilegios 
señoriales, creó el Ministerio de la Policía, intentó 
fundar un museo de bellas artes, suprimió la Inquisi-
ción y las fronteras interiores y vendió propiedades 
pertenecientes a órdenes religiosas.

Mientras tanto, el joven Unzaga supo moverse 
con diplomacia y prudencia en el ámbito palaciego, 
como, por ejemplo, demuestra el hecho de que Ma-
riano se mostrara imparcial cuando se le preguntaba 
sobre los rumores de infidelidades de Bonaparte y 
su esposa. En la corte, Unzaga también trabó pro-
funda amistad con el capitán Gorostiza 5, uno de los 
principales escritores afrancesados junto a Hermosi-
lla 6, rival de Moratín.

Los Unzaga y Bonaparte compartían los mismos 
círculos socioeconómicos de familias con influencia 
y grandes fortunas, e incluso llegaron a emparentar 
(Cazorla et al., 2019, p. 175).

De ahí que muchos españoles se afrancesaran, 
como los hermanos Unzaga (Vilar, 2006, p. 98). Sin 
duda, los Bonaparte considerarían que esta familia 
era muy valiosa por su demostrada fidelidad y ser 
medio franceses, con importantes vínculos familia-
res en Nueva Orleans y Florida; y les sería necesaria 

4 José Bonaparte, iniciado en la logia La Perfecta Sinceridad de 
Marsella en 1793, se convirtió en gran maestre del Gran Oriente 
de Francia en 1804 (Alvarado, 2016, pp. 77-81).
5 Manuel Gorostiza (1789-1851), hijo del general de las tropas 
de Nueva España Pedro Gorostiza y de Rosario Cepeda Mayo, 
secretaria de la Junta de Damas de Cádiz y Madrid, apoyó a Bo-
naparte y se exilió a Estados Unidos y Londres, donde mantendrá 
reuniones con líderes hispanoamericanos.
6 José Gómez Hermosilla (1771-1837), firmante del Estatuto de 
Bayona y jefe ministerial de Policía con Bonaparte. Durante el 
Trienio Liberal fue redactor de El Imparcial.

(Boletín Oficial del Estado, 1812), promoting him  
to become the officer that had the most authority to 
watch over the Monarch directly.

The good relationship between the King and Un-
zaga was indeed reciprocal. In Joseph Bonaparte’s 
Souvenirs et Memoires (Hugo, 1833, pp. 117-119) 
it is narrated how quick Joseph himself was able to 
gain an impression of this “young man full of gentle-
ness and kindness”, who stood out for having a “cul-
tivated mind and outstanding bravery” and whom 
Joseph professed true affection and treated in a 
special way, despite his youth and minimal autho-
ritarian power. On the other side of the spectrum, 
Mariano, being heavily grateful, never ceased to 
deluge the King with constant manifestations of his 
devotion.

Members of the family Unzaga-St. Maxent, along 
with aristocrats and high command military officers, 
had participated under the idea that having the 
new King, an enlightened reformer, Grand Master 
Mason 4 of Spain, Italy and France, and Great Eagle 
of the Legion of Honor, would modernize and en-
lighten Spain a lot more quickly. Indeed, Joseph I 
tried to improve the conditions of the country with 
his liberal court reforms, by promulgating education 
laws, abolishing manor privileges, creating the Poli-
ce Ministry, trying to form a museum of Fine Arts, su-
ppressing the Inquisition and interior borders and 
selling properties belonging to religious orders.

In addition, the young officer Unzaga knew how 
to use diplomacy and prudence in his favour at the 
palatial scope of Bonaparte. This is exhibited when 
he showed his impartiality when asked in reference 
of rumours compromising the faithfulness between 
Joseph and his wife. In the court, Unzaga interloc-
ked a profound friendship with Captain Gorostiza 5, 
one of the main frenchified writers, along with Her-
mosilla 6, rival of Moratín.

The Unzaga and Bonaparte shared the same so-
cio-economic circles by pertaining to families with 
social influence and having big fortunes, to the ex-
tent that they even became related (Cazorla et al., 
2019, p. 175).

Nevertheless, this family must have been highly 
valued by the Bonapartes for their unwavering lo-
yalty, their condition of half-French, and their strong 

4 Joseph Bonaparte, initiated in the lodge The Perfect Sincerity of 
Marseille in 1793 and became Grand Master of the Grand Orient 
of France in 1804 (Alvarado, 2016, pp. 77-81).
5 Manuel de Gorostiza (1789-1851), son of Pedro Gorostiza, ins-
pector of the troops of New Spain and Rosario Cepeda, secretary 
of the Junta de Ladies of Cádiz and Madrid. He supported Bona-
parte and was exiled to the US and London where he will have 
meetings with American leaders.
6 Joseph Hermosilla (1771-1837), signer of the Bayonne Statute 
and head of the Police Ministry with Bonaparte. During the Libe-
ral Triennium he was editor of El Imparcial.
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en caso de poner en marcha proyectos en América, 
como veremos con más detalle.

Según relatan las crónicas de Málaga (Díaz, 1914, 
p. 54), poco antes de que llegara el ejército bonapar-
tino a la ciudad, tras su entrada por Archidona el 3 de 
febrero de 1810, la Junta de Gobierno no se puso 
de acuerdo sobre la postura a tomar. Entre los pacífi-
cos, como los describe el cronista, estaba el regidor 
Joseph Tentor, que suplicó al gobernador José San 
Millán que desistiera de toda resistencia y permitiera 
entrar en Málaga al conde Sebastiani della Porta. San 
Millán les invitó a marcharse si temían a los franceses, 
porque él y los suyos iban a luchar.

Cuando en marzo se produce la entrada de las 
tropas bonapartinas en Málaga, Francisco de Unzaga, 
acompañado de su hermano Mariano, de su cuñado 
Joaquín Tentor —que será nombrado comandante 
de las milicias cívicas (Reder, 2010, pp. 63-92)—, otros 
miembros de la familia Tentor-Unzaga y de varias 
autoridades afrancesadas de la ciudad, recibirá a Jo- 
sé I Bonaparte, rey de las Españas, que será alojado 
en casa del comerciante Jean Maury, el último de los 
firmantes de la Constitución de Bayona, primer texto 
constitucional español y un intento del nuevo rey por 
ganarse el apoyo de los ilustrados españoles.

En Málaga, José I creó el Regimiento Fijo Núme- 
ro 6 (Sorando, 2018, pp. 146-148 y 479), dirigido por 
los coroneles Francisco Henríquez y Joaquín Tentor. 
Sus hombres combatieron integrados en las tropas 
francesas del mariscal Soult hasta su retirada de An-
dalucía en agosto y septiembre de 1812. En efecto, 
durante su campaña de Andalucía pareció que Jo- 
sé I podría ganarse a la población tras las victorias 
militares, pero su hermano Napoleón había concedi-
do a los generales plenos poderes civiles y militares 
en España, lo que terminó por desacreditar al nuevo 
rey (Bergeron, 1989).

family links in New Orleans and Florida; needed to 
launch projects in America, as that we will see in 
more detail.

According to the Málaga chronicles (Díaz, 1914, 
p. 54), short before the army of Bonaparte arrived 
to the city, following its entrance through Archi-
dona on February 3rd of 1810, the government’s 
board was disagreeing on what stance was to be 
taken on the matter. Among the peaceful, as des-
cribed by the chronicler, was the alderman Joseph 
Tentor who appealed to Governor Joseph Saint 
Millán to desist to all resistance, allowing earl of 
Count Sebastiani to enter Málaga. At that moment, 
St. Millán invited them to leave if they were afraid 
of the French, although stating that he and his men 
were going to fight regardless.

Later in march, when Napoleon’s troops ente-
red Málaga, Francisco de Unzaga, his brother Ma-
riano, his brother in law Joaquín Tentor, who was 
going to be named commander of the civic mili-
tias (Reder, 2010, pp. 63-92), other members of the 
family Tentor-Unzaga and some of the French su-
pporting authorities of the city received Joseph I 
Bonaparte, King of Spain, who was later hosted at 
Jean Maury’s house, a merchant who happened to 
be the last person to sign the Bayonne Constitu-
tion, the first Spanish constitutional text which the 
new King used as a last resort to gain support of 
the Spanish.

In Málaga, Joseph I created the fixed 6th Regi-
ment (Sorando, 2018, pp. 146-148 and 479), which 
was ordered by colonels Francisco Hernández 
and Joaquín Tentor. His men fought alongside the 
French troops of martial Soult until his withdrawal 
from Andalucía in August and September of 1812. 
Indeed, during his Andalusian Campaign, it appea-
red that Joseph I had a shot at gaining the favour of 
the public after their military victories but his bro-
ther Napoleon had conceded full civic and military 
powers to his generals in Spain, which discredited 
the new King (Bergeron, 1989).

Before definitely abandoning Spain to follow Jo-
seph Bonaparte across family properties in Biscay, 
Mariano de Unzaga partnered with the bilbaino: An-
thony Vildosola Gardoqui 7, brother of Joseph Vildo-
sola, who was the quartermaster of Port-Prince and 
of the mercantile traffic of La Habana, to create two 
iron foundries in Barakaldo that were still active in 
1828 (Guía mercantil, 1828, p. 61).

Also in 1812 his sister Josephine de Unzaga and 
his brother-in-law Francisco Aguilar Conde, Frenchi-
fied Governor of Granada, who proposed the entry 

7 Son of the merchant J. Vildosola and F. Gardoqui, nephew of the 
US Ambassador D. Gardoqui and Cardinal A. Gardoqui (Guía de 
forasteros en Madrid, 1821, p. 170).

Bandera del Sexto Regimiento de Málaga del ejército bonapar-
tino. (Museo Naval de Madrid, 1810, núm. 664). / Málaga 6th 
Regiment flag of the bonapartino army (1810, Museo Naval de 
Madrid, nº 664).

Antes de abandonar definitivamente España si-
guiendo a José Bonaparte, a su paso por las propie-
dades familiares en Vizcaya, Mariano de Unzaga se 
asocia con el bilbaíno afrancesado Antonio Juan de 
Vildosola Gardoqui 7, hermano de José Vildosola, in-
tendente de Puerto Príncipe y del tráfico mercantil de 
La Habana, para abrir en Baracaldo dos fundiciones 
de hierro que todavía seguían activas en 1828 (Guía 
mercantil, 1828, p. 61).

También en 1812 se exiliarán 8 a Francia su herma-
na Josephine Unzaga y su cuñado Francisco Aguilar 
Conde, gobernador afrancesado de Granada y artí-
fice de la entrada de las tropas francesas en Málaga 
(Mazariegos, 1810, pp. 12-14), que en 1814 se tras-
ladarán a Nueva York 9, adelantándose a la salida de 
Mariano.

2. Bonaparte y Mariano de Unzaga en Estados Unidos

Tras ser sitiada París en marzo de 1814 por Reino 
Unido y sus aliados de la coalición para combatir a 
Napoleón, José Bonaparte, otros miembros de la fa-
milia y Mariano de Unzaga se refugian en Suiza, don-
de la familia Bonaparte tenía posesiones.

José abandona Suiza en marzo de 1815 y Napo-
león, tras escapar de su exilio forzoso en la isla de 
Elba, regresa a París ese mismo mes también y consi-
gue, de nuevo, el apoyo del pueblo y de los oficiales. 
Sin embargo, es derrotado en Waterloo el 18 de ju-
nio. Entonces abdica en su hijo Napoleón II, que tam-
bién renunciará para restaurar la corona a Luis XVIII.

Napoleón planea huir a Estados Unidos, donde 
su hermano José había adquirido extensas propie-
dades; para ello, el 29 de junio se traslada desde 
la residencia de Malmaison, en París, a Rochefort, 
donde coincide con José, que en todo momento se 
encuentra acompañado por Mariano Luis de Unzaga 
Saint Maxent.

Estudios coetáneos a los hechos (Bran, 1833, pp. 
373-375) nos explican con mayor detalle que Napo-
león y algunos de sus generales, junto a José —acom-
pañado, entre otros, por Unzaga—, preparan la huida 
atracados en el enclave estratégico de la isla de Aix, 
donde examinan mapas y fijan su futura residencia 
en Estados Unidos. Cuando Napoleón se entrevista 

7 Hijo del comerciante José Vildosola y de Francisca Gardoqui 
Arriquibar, sobrino del embajador en Estados Unidos Diego Gar-
doqui y del cardenal Antonio Gardoqui (Guía de forasteros en 
Madrid, 1821, p. 170).
8 Francia reconoció a los afrancesados el estatus de refugiados 
y los protegió económicamente incluso después de Bonaparte.
9 Recordemos que su cosmopolita madre era de Nueva Orleans, 
de nacionalidad francesa pero al mismo tiempo norteamericana, 
ya que en 1803 dicha ciudad pasó a formar parte de Estados 
Unidos y allí residía la mayoría de su familia (Passeports pour 
l’étranger, 1814).

of French troops into Málaga (Mazariegos, 1810, pp. 
12-14), will also be exiled 8 to France and New York 9 
in 1814, before Mariano’s departure.

2. Bonaparte and Mariano de Unzaga  
in the United States of America

Following Paris’ besieging in march of 1814 by the 
hand of United Kingdom and their coalition allies, to 
combat Napoleon, Joseph I, members of the Bona-
parte family, and Mariano de Unzaga found refuge 
in Switzerland, where the Bonaparte family had pos-
sessions.

Joseph abandoned Switzerland in March of 1815 
and Napoleon, following his escape from his impo-
sed exile on the island of Elba, returned to Paris that 
same month and gained the support of the people 
and the officials back. Although, he was defeated in 
Waterloo on June 18th. He then abdicated for his 
son, who also renounced to restore the crown to 
Louis XVIII.

On June 29th Napoleon had plans to escape to 
the USA where his brother Joseph had acquired lar-
ge properties; and for such, one day he moved from 
the Chateau de Malmaison residence in Paris to Ro-
chefort, where he coincided with Joseph, who was 
always accompanied by Mariano Louis de Unzaga 
Saint Maxent.

Contemporary studies of the events (Bran, 1833, 
pp. 373-375) explain in more detail that Napoleon 
and some of his generals, along with Joseph, ac-
companied by Unzaga, among others, prepared a 
getaway from the Île-d’Aix by analyzing maps and 
also setting his future residence in USA. Mariano de 
Unzaga was also found assisting Napoleon in the 
same living room that he was being interviewed by 
the American interpreter James Carret.

On a table in the living room there was a map 
containing roads of Rochefort and traces showing 
the position of the British. When, as Carret himself 
narrates, the Emperor left the room, Unzaga picked 
up some scissors that Napoleon previously used, 
and following his lead, Carret picked up the map and 
kept it close as a valuable memory from that great 
and historic man.

Meanwhile, in Rochefort, the British marine had 
been blockading the port and Joseph offered Napo-
leon, who was a year younger and shared a physical 

8 France recognized the Frenchified refugee status, protecting 
them economically even after Bonaparte.
9 Let us remember that his cosmopolitan mother was from New 
Orleans, she had French nationality but also North American be-
cause this city became part of the United States since 1803 and 
most of her family lived in Louisiana (Passeports pour l’étranger, 
1814).
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con el intérprete americano James Carret, en el sa-
lón también se encuentra Mariano de Unzaga asis-
tiéndolo.

Sobre una mesa hay un mapa con los caminos 
de Rochefort y la posición trazada de los ingleses. 
Según relata el propio Carret, cuando el empera-
dor abandona la sala, Unzaga recoge unas tijeras 
que Napoleón había utilizado y Carret, siguiendo 
su ejemplo, se guarda el mapa, que conservará 
como valioso recuerdo de ese gran hombre y de 
aquel momento histórico.

Mientras tanto, la marina inglesa bloqueaba el 
puerto de Rochefort y José, que se llevaba un año 
con Napoleón y compartía parecido físico, ofrece 
a Napoleón la posibilidad de hacerse pasar por él, 
pero, según la historia «oficial», Napoleón rechazó 
la oferta (Abbott, 1902, p. 323) y pidió asilo inglés 
al capitán Maitland (Terragno, 2001, pp. 171-194), 
quien recibió de Bonaparte, como señal del pacto, 
un vaso tallado con la letra «J» 10. Antes de llegar 
a las costas inglesas, Bonaparte fue transferido en 
alta mar a un buque que lo llevará directamente 
a su último destierro, en la isla británica de Santa 
Elena.

José embarcó el 24 de julio por la noche en el 
bergantín Le Commerce de Charleston, que ha-
bía adquirido para su propia huida en Burdeos. 
Iba acompañado de un pequeño séquito: su fiel 
edecán Mariano de Unzaga, que iba como médi-
co; su intérprete, el neoyorquino James Carret; 
su cocinero, François Parrot; y su secretario, Louis 
Maillard. José, bajo el nombre de conde de Sur-
villiers y pasaporte falso, llega a Nueva York el 
20 de agosto de 1815, donde fue bien recibido 
por el propio alcalde de la ciudad (Lentz, 2017,  
pp. 2-7) 11.

Aunque intentó pasar de incógnito en su casa 
de 260 South 9th Street de Filadelfia y luego en 
su mansión, llamada Point Breeze, en Bordentown 
(Nueva Jersey), el 4 de enero de 1820 esta última 
fue incendiada, supuestamente por una sirvienta 
irlandesa que colaboraba con la embajada rusa 12. 
También ese mismo año una comitiva de liberales 
mexicanos ofreció la corona de México a José Bo-
naparte, pero este la rechazó.

10 Estos vasos iban en estuches de dos para brindar en eventos. 
La «J» sería la inicial de «José» y su pareja la «B» de «Bonapar-
te» o, si tenemos en cuenta que la familia del capitán Maitland 
tenía tradición masónica y ayudó secretamente (Plan Maitland) 
a los independentistas americanos, podrían ser las iniciales de 
las columnas masónicas J y B como signo de pacto (Daza, 1997, 
pp. 85-91).
11 Según Lentz (2017, pp. 2-7), el barco se llamaba Margaretha.
12 Por las mismas fechas, Riego se negó a embarcar a sus 10.000 
soldados en unos buques podridos (proclama del 1 de enero 
de1820) que había comprado Fernando VII al embajador ruso 
Dmitry Tatishchev.

resemblance, to pretend to be him, although, ac-
cording to the “official” account Napoleon rejected 
the offer (Abbott, 1902, p. 323), and asked asylum to 
captain Maitland (Terragno, 2001, pp. 171-194) who 
was gifted a cup with a carved letter “J” 10, as a sign of 
peace, from Bonaparte. Before arriving to the British 
coast, Bonaparte was transferred offshore to a ship 
that took him directly to his final banishment to the 
British island of Saint Helena.

Joseph boarded the Brigantine Commerce of 
Charleston on July 24th, which he had acquired for 
his own escape from Bordeaux, with the company 
of his small entourage, composed by: his faithful 
aide-de-camp Mariano de Unzaga, who acted as a 

doctor, his American interpret James Carret, his cook 
François Parrot and his secretary Louis Maillard. Jo-
seph, under the name of Earl of Survilliers and utili-
zing a fake passport arrived to New York on the 20th 
of August of 1815, where he was well-received by 
the major, himself, of the city (Lentz, 2017, pp. 2-7) 11.

He tried to go incognito in his house in 260 South 
9th Street of Philadelphia and afterwards in his man-
sion, named Point Breeze, in Bordertown, New Jer-
sey, which caught in flames on January 4th of 1820, 
supposedly because of an Irish servant who was coo-
perating with the Russian Embassy 12. In addition, that 

10 These glasses used to go in cases of 2 to toast at events. The “J” 
would be the initial of Joseph and his partner the “B” of Bonapar-
te or if we take into account that the family of Captain Maitland 
had a Masonic tradition and secretly helped (Maitland Plan) the 
American independentists, they could be the initials of the Ma-
sonic columns J and B as a sign of pact (Daza, 1997, pp. 85-91).
11 For Lentz (2017, pp. 2-7), the ship was called Margaretha.
12 After Riego refused to embark his 10 000 soldiers on rotten 
ships (Proclamation of 1-I-1820) that Ferdinand VII bought from 
the Russian ambassador Dmitry Tatishchev.

Vaso con que Bonaparte obsequió a Maitland. (Maitland, 2019,  
p. 202). / Cap that was gifted from Bonaparte to Maitland (Mait-
land, 2019, p. 202).

José pronto comenzó a formar parte de la socie-
dad de Estados Unidos, asistiendo a cenas y actos 
sociales en los que participaba también Mariano  
de Unzaga, y su propiedad será lugar de encuen-
tro de muchos otros exiliados bonapartistas, como 
Charles y Henri Lallemand (quienes participaron, jun-
to a los Laffite 13, en la invasión de Texas) y Charles 
Lefebvre-Desnouttes, a los que protegerá por medio 
de la francmasonería (Ferrer, 1977, pp. 57-76) 14.

Se dedicará a obras de beneficencia y además 
será miembro de la Sociedad Filosófica Americana, 
donde hará amistad con su vecino el comandan-
te de marina Charles Stewart, con los congresistas 
Joseph Hopkinson y Charles Ingersoll 15, con los 
importantes banqueros Nicholas Biddle 16 (que in-
cluso llegó a escribir unas memorias privadas so-
bre José Bonaparte) y Stephen Girard 17 y con la 
librepensadora Frances Wright 18. Unos años des-
pués de su llegada a Estados Unidos, la integración 
de José I Bonaparte es completa y ya no esconde 
públicamente su nombre tras el de Survilliers, sino 
que se escriben juntos (Miscellany, 1839, p. 7) 19.

Desde Estados Unidos, Mariano de Unzaga, que 
tenía una familia materna extensa ocupando pues-
tos clave en el golfo de México 20, seguirá desem-
peñando un papel destacado en las transacciones 
entre Europa y América, al igual que había esta-
do haciendo durante la ocupación francesa de la 
península ibérica cuando la mayoría del territorio 
continental de Hispanoamérica se desconectó de 
la metrópoli a raíz de perder sus barcos en la de-
rrota de Trafalgar.

Napoleón, optando por el bloqueo continental, 
provocó que los criollos buscaran alianzas alterna-

13 Familia de comerciantes de Bayona que aparece en las tramas 
económicas de Bonaparte ayudando en 1818 a Lallemand en sus 
proyectos de asentar a exiliados franceses en regiones del golfo 
de México (Davis, 2005).
14 En la era bonapartina se iniciaron muchos afrancesados (médi-
cos militares, oficiales, etcétera), cuyos lazos fraternos continúan 
en el exilio.
15 Charles Ingersoll (1782-1862) había sido embajador adjunto 
estadounidense en Francia durante el período bonapartino.
16 Nicholas Biddle (1786-1844), hijo del banquero C. Biddle. En 
1804 viajó a París con el senador John Armstrong, como emba-
jador de Estados Unidos en España y Francia, y participó en la 
venta de Luisiana (Biddle, 1931, pp. 208-224).
17 Stephen Girard (1750-1831), que salvó a Estados Unidos de 
una crisis en la guerra de 1812, fue el cuarto americano más rico.
18 Escocesa de nacimiento (1795-1852) y casada con el físico 
francés Guillayme D’Arusmont. Se estableció en Estados Unidos, 
donde luchó por la abolición de la esclavitud, la igualdad, la edu-
cación y la mujer.
19 Tal y como consta en el noticiero (Miscellany, 1839, p. 7) de la 
logia de Albany sobre la boda de una hija de Bonaparte, Caroline 
Charlotte, con el coronel Zebulon Benton.
20 Allí sus tíos ocuparon los principales gobiernos: Gálvez fue vi-
rrey; Riaño, intendente de Guanajuato; Manuel de Flon, gober-
nador de Nuevo México; Antoine Saint Maxent, comandante en 
Galveston; y Joaquín de Osorno, brigadier de Luisiana.

same year, a Mexican liberals’ entourage offered the 
crown of Mexico to Joseph Bonaparte, but he rejec-
ted it.

Joseph began to take part of the USA socie-
ty soon after, attending dinners and other social 
events in which Mariano de Unzaga participated, 
and his property later became the meetinghouse 
for many other Bonapartist exiles such as Charles 
and Henry Lallemand (who participated, along with 
Laffite 13, in the invasion of Texas) and Charles Le-
debvre-Desnouttes, which Joseph protected using 
the means of the Freemasonry (Ferrer, 1977, pp. 
57-76) 14.

He dedicated himself to charity works and 
he also became a member of the Philosophical 
American Society, where he became friends with 
his neighbor Charles Stewart, the commander of 
the Marines, along with the congressmen Joseph 
Hopkinson and Charles Ingersoll 15, the important 
bankers Nicholas Biddle 16 (who eventually recei-
ved some private memories from Joseph Bonapar-
te), Stephen Girard 17, and with the freethinker Fran-
ces Wright 18. Years after arriving to the USA Joseph 
I Bonaparte’s integration was complete and no lon-
ger used Survilliers to hide away his name from the 
common knowledge (Miscellany, 1839, p. 7) 19.

In USA Mariano de Unzaga, who had an exten-
ded family from his mother’s side, was occupying 
key locations in the Gulf of Mexico 20, and continued 
performing a prominent role in the transactions be-
tween Europe and America, just as he had been 
doing during the French occupation of the Iberian 
peninsula when the majority of the continental te-
rritory of Hispanic America got disconnected from 
the Metropolis which had lost ships in the loss at 
Trafalgar.

13 Family of merchants from Bayonne who appear among Bona-
parte’s economic plots, helping Lallemand in 1818 in his plans to 
settle French exiles in regions of the Gulf of México (Davis, 2005).
14 In the Bonaparte era, many Frenchified (military doctors, offi-
cers, etc.) began whose fraternal ties continue in exile.
15 Charles Ingersoll (1782-1862). US Deputy Ambassador to Fran-
ce during the Bonapartine period.
16 Nicholas Biddle (1786-1844). Son of banker C. Biddle. In 1804 
he traveled to Paris with Senator John Armstrong, as US ambas-
sador to Spain and France participating in the sale of Louisiana 
(Biddle, 1931, pp. 208-224).
17 Stephen Girard (1750-1831). Saved the US from a crisis in the 
war of 1812, was the 4th richest American.
18 Scottish by birth (1795-1852) but married to the French physicist 
Guillayme D’Arusmont. She settled in the US where she fought for 
the abolition of slavery, equality, education and women.
19 Recorded in the news (Miscellany, 1839: 7) of the Albany lodge, 
on the wedding of a daughter of Bonaparte, Caroline Charlotte 
with Colonel Zebulon Benton.
20 There his uncles Gálvez was viceroy; Riaño, mayor of Guanajua-
to; Manuel de Flon, governor of New Mexico; Antoine St. Maxent, 
commander in Galveston and Joachim de Ossorno, brigadier of 
Louisiana.
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tivas con los ingleses. En el caso de la península de 
Florida, se pudo sortear el aislamiento durante los 
años de «afrancesamiento» 21 gracias a la conexión 
familiar del gobernador Francisco Saint Maxent, tío 
de Mariano, con Luisiana y provincias internas de 
Nueva España.

Ahora Mariano de Unzaga Saint Maxent actua-
rá a favor del barón de Colins, como demuestra 
la existencia de unas cartas de recomendación 
(Archief van het Colisiaans socialism, 1818), que 
el propio Mariano firmó el 14 de octubre de 1818 
desde Filadelfia, dirigidas a su tío Célestin de Saint 
Maxent 22, que comandaba Baton Rouge junto al 
Misisipi, y a su tío el barón de Férièt 23, capitán de 
caballería que había defendido la costa entre Nue-
va Orleans y Mobile. En ellas, apelando a la amistad 
común con el conde de Gálvez, su primo les solicita 
que acojan y auxilien a Colins en lo que necesite.

Hippolyte de Colins 24, condecorado con la Legión 
de Honor francesa, especialista en agricultura e hijo 
del chambelán imperial, Jean-Guillaume de Colins, 
había llegado a Filadelfia a finales de mayo de ese 
mismo año para apoyar a los exiliados bonapartinos 

21 Período entre el Tratado de Basilea y el declive bonapartino, 
donde Saint Maxent y su suegro Folch gobernaron Florida (1796-
1812); tras la guerra anglonorteamericana, fueron relevados por 
los anglófilos Zúñiga y Manrique; en 1816 retomó el gobierno Saint 
Maxent hasta que en 1817, con las guerras semínolas, se crea la Re-
pública de Florida con ayuda de Simón Bolívar, por lo que España 
entre 1818 y 1821 negociará la venta de Florida a Estados Unidos.
22 Celestin Honorè de Saint Maxent la Roche (1773-1825), capitán 
que defendió Nueva Orleans en 1810 de los ingleses.
23 Louis Anne-Claude de Férièt (Lorraine, 1776-1845), barón y 
esposo de Marie-Heloïse Merced de Saint Maxent la Roche; en 
1791, debido a la Revolución francesa, su familia se exilió a Marti-
nica; en 1805 adquirió propiedades en Mobile y Nueva Orleans, 
algunas ajardinadas al estilo francés.
24 Jean Hippolyte de Colins de Ham (1783-1859), creador del «socia-
lismo racional»; miembro de la logia Rose du Parfait Silence, de París.

Napoleon, who preferred a continental blockade, 
provoked the creole to seek alternate alliances with 
the English. In the specific case of the peninsula of 
Florida, isolation was sorted during the years of the 
“afrancesamiento” 21 thanks to the connections to  
the family of governor Francisco St. Maxent, Maria-
no’s uncle, with Louisiana and inner provinces of 
New Spain.

Following previous events, Mariano de Unzaga 
St. Maxent acted in favour of Baron Colins. This was 
shown by the existence of letters of recommen-
dation (Archief van het Colisiaans socialism, 1818) 
that Mariano himself had signed on October 14th 
of 1818 in Philadelphia, which were being sent to 
his uncle Celestin St. Maxent 22, who commanded 
Baton Rouge and along with his uncle Baron d’Fé-
rièt 23, captain of Cavalry who had defended the 
coast between New Orleans and Mobile. In them, 
he appealed for their common friendship with 
Count de Gálvez, his cousin, requesting them to 
provide help to Colins on whatever he needed.

21 Period between the Treaty of Basel and the Bonapartine decline 
where St. Maxent and his father-in-law Folch ruled Florida (1796-
1812); later, in the Anglo-American war, they were relieved by 
the Anglophiles Zúñiga and Manrique; in 1816 he took over the 
government of St. Maxent until in 1817 with the Seminole wars 
the Republic of Florida was created with the help of Simón Bo-
lívar, for which Spain between 1818-1821 negotiated the sale of 
Florida to the US.
22 Celestin Honorè de Saint Maxent La Roche (1773-1825), cap-
tain who defended New Orleans from the English in 1810; ma-
rried to Theresa Chebalier.
23 Louis Anne-Claude de Férièt (Lorraine 1776-1845), baron and 
husband of Marie-Heloïse Merced de Saint Maxent La Roche; in 
1791, due to the French Revolution, his family went into exile to 
Martinique; in 1805 he acquired properties in Mobile and New 
Orleans, some landscaped in the French style.

Itinerario de Mariano de Unzaga Saint Maxent entre Europa y América. / Travel itinerary of Mariano de Unzaga Saint Maxent across Eu-
rope and America.

en los proyectos agrícolas de José Bonaparte, que 
procuraba proporcionar plantaciones para colonos 
militares franceses, con el apoyo de los generales 
Bernard y Lallemand (Saby, 2005, pp. 116-117), que 
se encontraban exiliados en América, a través de la 
Sociedad para el Cultivo del Vino y el Olivo en Texas 
y Alabama (Blaufarb, 2005, pp. 33-60 y 86-116), te-
rritorios que, debido al abandono español durante 
el absolutismo, eran propicios para ser colonizados 
por Estados Unidos.

El brigadier Francisco Maximiliano de Saint 
Maxent la Roche, gobernador de Florida Occiden-
tal y Mobile, al finalizar la primera guerra semínola 
(1817-1818), pasó a Cuba como jefe del Regimien-
to de Infantería de la Luisiana en la guarnición de 
La Habana (Guía de forasteros, 1821, p. 171). Poco 
después del Tratado de Adams-Onís, en febrero de 
1819, el barón de Colins también residirá en Cuba, 
decisión que tomó a finales del año anterior, estable-
ciendo residencia como dueño de cafetales. Todo 
esto orientó a Mariano a trasladarse también a La 
Habana, junto a su tío Folch, el suegro de este y su 
primo tercero y socio Vildósola Gardoqui.

Como La Habana era el principal nudo postal en-
tre la metrópoli y América, allí recibirán pronto la no-
ticia sobre el pronunciamiento liberal de Riego.

La relación de cartas de recomendación que Co-
lins atesoró para su viaje a América, además de las 
de Unzaga, nos ofrece un listado, en los prolegóme-
nos mismos de las oleadas liberales de 1820, de los 
principales protagonistas de las revoluciones atlánti-
cas entre el último tercio del siglo XVIII y primer ter-
cio del XIX. Además, el análisis de sus perfiles nos 
traza con bastante claridad las redes de influencia 
que se mantenían entre Europa y América, al tiem-
po que se nos develan aquellos agentes que ser-
vían de nudo de correspondencia discreta.

Así encontramos misivas a favor de Colins del 
general Bernard 25 al general Brueys 26, del marqués 
de Lafayette 27 al gobernador Claiborne 28, de Lafa-

25 Colins indica en sus notas (Archief van het Colisiaans socialism, 
1818) que Bernard será ministro después.
26 François de Brueys (1753-1798), vicealmirante de la marina 
francesa en la independencia de Estados Unidos y en la Revo-
lución francesa. Era miembro de la logia masónica La Bonne Foi, 
de Mountauban.
27 Marqués de Lafayette (1757-1834), héroe de las revoluciones 
norteamericana y francesa, apoyó a los liberales exiliados; en 
1824 visitó cada uno de los veinticuatro estados de los Estados 
Unidos.
28 William Claiborne (1774-1817), gobernador de Luisiana (1804-
1816) de carácter conciliador.

Hippolyte de Colins 24, decorated by the French 
Legion of Honor, expert in agriculture and son of the 
imperial chamberlain, Jean-Guillaume de Colins, arri-
ved to Philadelphia towards the end of May of the 
year previously mentioned to support the Bonapartist 
exiles in agricultural projects that Joseph Bonaparte 
was hoping they, with the support of generals Ber-
nard and Lallemand (Saby, 2005, pp. 116-117), who 
were in exile in America, would provide plantations 
for the French military colonists through the Wine 
and Olive Farming Society in Texas and Alabama 
(Blaufarb, 2005, pp. 33-60 and 86-116), lands which 
due to the Spanish desertion during the Absolutism, 
became favourable to be settled by the USA.

The brigadier St. Maxent, governor of western 
Florida and Mobile, following the end of the first 
Seminole War (1818) moved to Cuba as the Infantry 
Regiment colonel in Louisiana’s garrison of Havana 
(Guía de forasteros de Madrid, 1821, p. 171). In Fe-
bruary of 1819, not long after the Adams-Onis Trea-
ty, the Baron Colins had begun residing in Cuba and 
getting established as an owner of coffee plantations, 
which occurred following his decision to move there 
the year before; all of these which leaded Mariano, 
his uncle Folch, the baron’s father-in-law, and his third 
cousin and associate Vildosola-Gardoqui to all move 
to La Habana.

Since La Habana was the main postal knot be-
tween the Metropolis and America, there also arrived 
news of Riego’s liberal pronouncement.

The amount of recommendation letters that Co-
lins treasured for his voyage to America, also to Un-
zaga’s, offer us a list, in the prefaces of the liberal wa-
ves of 1820, of the main protagonists of the Atlantic 
Revolutions occurring between the last third of the 
XVIII century and the first third of the XIX century. In 
addition, by analyzing their profiles it becomes clear 
their trace and the networks of influence that were 
being kept between Europe and America during the 
time that those agents were unveiled to be a discrete 
knot of correspondence.

In this manner we encounter missives in favor of 
Collins from general Bernard 25 to general Brueys 26, 
from Marquis de Lafayette 27 to governor Claibor-

24 Jean Hippolyte de Colins de Ham (1783-1859), creator of “ra-
tional socialism”; member of the Rose du Parfait Silence Lodge 
in Paris.
25 Colins indicates in his notes (Archief van het Colisiaans socia-
lism, 1818) that Bernard will be minister later.
26 François de Brueys (1753-98), Vice Admiral of the French Navy 
in the US Independence and in the French Revolution. He was a 
member of the Mountauban Masonic Lodge.
27 Marquis de Lafayette (1757-1834), hero of the American and 
French revolutions, he supported the exiled Liberals; in 1824 he 
visited each of the 24 states of the United States of America.
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yette a Edward Livingston 29, del conde de Gálvez 30 
al virrey de México, del doctor ingeniero Lemaur 31 a 
un general de América Latina, de Michaux 32 al doc-
tor Winter, del Bosc a Bonplant 33, a Mr. Ferrand 34 de 
Charleston y a Mr. Menier y de distintas autoridades 
en embajadas de Buenos Aires, Río de Janeiro, entre 
ellos el general Belgrano 35, etcétera.

Del Bosc (en catalán) era el pseudónimo que el 
barón de Forest, Antoine de la Forêt, utilizaba en 
sus misiones exteriores de alta discreción. En Esta-
dos Unidos, La Forêt controlaba los correos entre 
Francia y las Españas, incluida América, como em-
bajador de José I Bonaparte.

Además de con el barón de Colins, La Forêt 
mantuvo correspondencia con Benjamin Franklin, 
que, a su vez, lo hacía con la familia del barón de 
Férièt. Por otro lado, La Forêt y Franklin también es-
tablecen contactos con otro familiar de Mariano de 
Unzaga: su primo segundo el marqués Balthazar 
Ignace Hurtado de Amézaga (Oberg, 1997, p. 454; 
Pidansat, 2012), cuya esposa, la marquesa de Amé-
zaga, también mantuvo correspondencia secreta 
con América (Bachaumont, 1783, p. 199).

Toda la actividad de Mariano de Unzaga se vio 
truncada el 16 de septiembre. En efecto, durante 
la travesía que el navío francés Marc Bourdon Vatry 
realizaba entre La Habana —de donde había zarpa-
do el 29 de agosto de 1820— a El Havre 36 (en Fran-
cia), Mariano falleció a bordo.

Hasta el 24 de febrero de 1821, año del falleci-
miento de Napoleón 37, su defunción no será certifi-

29 Edward Livingston (1764-1836), alcalde de Nueva York, logró la 
amnistía a los bonapartinos liderados por los Laffite en Luisiana. 
Como parlamentario, entre 1816 y 1831 diseñó el Código Civil 
de Luisiana. Fue secretario de estado y gran maestro de la Maso-
nería del Royal Arch.
30 Miguel de Gálvez Saint Maxent (1782-1825), conde de Gálvez, 
afrancesado.
31 Francisco de Lemaur (1769-1857), último virrey de Nueva Espa-
ña en 1822. Su hija, la marquesa de Lemaur, se casó con José Va-
sallo Unzaga, sobrino de Mariano e hijo del ministro Bartolomé 
Vasallo y de Dionisia Unzaga Saint Maxent.
32 François Michaux (1770-1855), alumno de Corvisart, médico 
de Napoleón. Construyó los primeros viveros en Estados Unidos. 
Desde 1802 se le encomendó determinar qué especies euro-
peas se podían aclimatar a Estados Unidos. Legión de Honor y en 
1820 administrador de la Sociedad Central de Agricultura. Legó 
su fortuna a la Sociedad Filosófica de Filadelfia.
33 Aimé Goujaud, alias «Bonplant» (1773-1858), explorador de re-
cursos botánicos bajo los Bonaparte.
34 Guillaume/William Ferrand (1789-1847), importante comer-
ciante naviero y terrateniente en el litoral de Carolina.
35 Manuel Belgrano (1770-1820), ilustre general y prócer argen-
tino.
36 Le Havre es un puerto estratégico situado entre la salida fluvial 
de París y el canal de la Mancha. En este puerto, el ministro Bour-
don de Vatry había invertido y en 1820 se inician las rutas con 
barcos a vapor.
37 Napoleón pudo ser atendido médicamente en Nueva Orleans 
(Selin, 2014).

ne 28, from Lafayette to Edward Livingston 29, from 
Count de Gálvez 30 to viceroy of México, from doctor 
of engineering Lemaur 31 to a general of Latin Ame-
rica, from de Michaux 32 to doctor Winter, from Bosc 
to Bonplant 33, Mr. Ferrand 34 of Charleston and Mr. 
Menier and from different authorities in embassies of 
Buenos Aires and Rio de Janiero, one of which was 
general Belgrano 35, etc.

Del Bosc (in Catalan) was the pseudonym that Ba-
ron of Forest, Antoine of La Foret, used in his external 
missions of high discretion in USA. La Foret controlled 
the mail between France and the Spains, including 
America, as the embassador to Joseph I Bonaparte.

In addition to Baron of Colins, La Foret also kept 
the correspondence with Benjamin Franklin, who 
was also in touch with Baron of Feriet. Furthermore, 
La Foret and Franklin also established contacts with 
another relative of Mariano de Unzaga: his second 
cousin, marquis Baltazar Ignace Hurtado de Amé-
zaga (Oberg, 1997; Pidansat, 2012), whose spouse, 
the marquess de Amézaga, also maintained a secret 
correspondence with America (Bachaumont, 1783,  
p. 199).

All of Mariano de Unzaga’s activity was truncated 
when during the journey of the French ship Marc 
Bourdon Vatry from La Habana’s port, where it had 
departed on August 29th of 1820, to El Havre’s port 
in France 36, Mariano passed away onboard on Sep-
tember 16th.

It wasn’t until February 24th of 1821 37 that his de-
cease was certified (Expediente personal de Mariano 

28 William Claiborne (1774-1817), governor of Louisiana (1804-
16) of conciliatory character.
29 Edward Livingston (1764-1836), Mayor of New York, he obtai-
ned an amnesty for the Bonapartines led by the Laffites in Louisia-
na. As a parliamentarian, between 1816 and 1831, he designed 
the Louisiana Civil Code. He was Secretary of State and Grand 
Master of Royal Arch Freemasonry.
30 Miguel de Gálvez St. Maxent (1782-1825), Count of Gálvez, exi-
led for being Frenchified.
31 Francisco de Lemaur (1769-1857), last Viceroy of New Spain in 
1822. His daughter, marquise of Lemaur, married Joseph Vasallo 
de Unzaga, Mariano’s nephew and son of Minister Bartolomé Va-
sallo and Dionisia de Unzaga St. Maxent.
32 François Michaux (1770-1855), Corvisart’s pupil, Napoleon’s 
physician. He created the first nurseries in the USA. From 1802 he 
was commissioned to determine the European climatable spe-
cies in the USA. Legion of Honor and administrator of the Central 
Society of Agriculture in 1820. He bequeathed his fortune to the 
Philosophical Society of Philadelphia.
33 Aimé Goujaud, Bonplant (1773-1858), explorer of botanical re-
sources under the Bonaparts.
34 Guillaume/William Ferrand (1789-1847), main shipping mer-
chant and landowner on the North Carolina coast.
35 Manuel Belgrano (1770-1820), illustrious general and Argentine 
hero.
36 The strategic port of Le Havre, between the Paris (Seine) river out-
let and the English Channel, where Minister Bourdon de Vatry had 
invested in its port and began a route with steamships in 1820.
37 Napoleon was able to receive medical attention in New Or-
leans (Selin, 2014).

cada (Expediente personal de Mariano de Unzaga, 
1821) por el embajador de España en París, el mar-
qués de Santa Cruz 38.

Según las referencias (Bertin, 1893; Biddle, 
1931, pp. 215-216; Goldsmith, 1913, p. 215; Hugo, 
1833, pp. 52-55; Ingersoll, 1845, pp. 373-375; 
Stroud, 2005, p. 1), fue muy llorado como amigo 
por José Bonaparte.

El viaje de Mariano de Unzaga a Europa se con-
textualiza en la coyuntura de la negativa o acto de 
rebeldía del general Riego a trasladar las tropas a 
América y el inicio del Trienio Liberal. El país que 
Unzaga había dejado tras su exilio con José Bona-
parte se encontró con un rey absolutista, Fernan- 
do VII, que no cumplió las promesas de olvido y 
perdón formuladas cuando Napoleón le autorizó 
su regreso. Por el contrario, desplegó una política 
de represión sistemática.

La muerte sorprendió a Mariano y dio al traste 
con sus planes de regresar a la metrópoli europea, 
como otros afrancesados y liberales exiliados es-
taban haciendo, para propiciar la instauración del 
sistema democrático. En este sentido, su hermana 
Josephine sí podrá regresar a Málaga en 1821 39, 
al igual que su hermano Francisco, que seguirá im-
pulsando las ideas liberales alineado con Torrijos.

38 José Gabriel de Silva-Bazán (1772-1839), mayordomo mayor 
de Fernando VII; en 1821 fue ordenado caballero del Toisón de 
Oro.
39 En 1821, Josephine residió en la casa de su familia en San 
Agustín, 16, la misma que en 1791 se alquiló para que fuera 
agencia consular de Estados Unidos en Málaga.

de Unzaga, 1821) by the Spanish embassador in Pa-
ris, the Marquis of Santa Cruz 38.

According to multiple references (Bertin, 1893; 
Biddle, 1931, pp. 215-216; Goldsmith, 1913, p. 215; 
Hugo, 1833, pp. 52-55; Ingersoll, 1845, pp. 373-375; 
Stroud, 2005, p. 1), he was heavily wept over by his 
friend Joseph Bonaparte.

Mariano de Unzaga’s trip from America to Euro-
pe was contextualized in the juncture of the refusal 
or act of rebellion of general Riego to relocate the 
troops to America and by the beginning of the Libe-
ral Triennium. The country that Unzaga left behind, 
following his exile with Bonaparte, was to be found 
with an absolutist King, Ferdinand VII, who didn’t ful- 
fill the promises of forgiveness made when Napoleon 
authorized his return. On the contrary, he unfolded a 
systematically repressed policy.

Death surprised Mariano and sabotaged his plans 
to return back to the European Metropolis, as other 
afrancesados and liberals were doing, to promote 
the establishment of the democratic system. In this 
context, his sister Josephine will be able to return to 
Málaga in 1821 39, like his brother Francisco, who will 
be able to continue promoting liberal ideas, aligned 
with Torrijos.

38 José Gabriel de Silva-Bazán (1772-1839), major butler of Ferdi-
nand VII; in 1821 he was ordained Knight of the Golden Fleece.
39 Residing in 1821 in her family’s house in Saint Agustine # 16, 
the same one that was rented in 1791 as a US consular agency 
in Málaga.

Detalles de una de las cartas de recomendación de Mariano de Unzaga a favor del barón de Colins en su viaje a América. (Archief van 
het Colisiaans socialism, 1818). / Details from one of the recommendation letters of Mariano de Unzaga in favor of Baron of Colins in his 
trip to America. (Archief van het Colisiaans socialism, 1818).
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